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Monday, January 13, 2025
9: 00 AM Eastern
(Hearing conmenced pursuant to due notice)

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Good nor ni ng,
everyone. W are now on the record in Case No. U 21806,
which is captioned in the matter of the application of
Consuners Energy Conpany for authority to increase its
rates for the distribution of natural gas and for other
relief.

My nanme is Janes Varchetti. | am an
admnistrative law judge with the M chigan Ofice of
Adm ni strative Hearings and Rules, and |I have been
assigned to be the hearing officer in this case.

Today is January 13th, 2025, and this
Is the date and the tinme schedul ed for the prehearing
conference in this case. This hearing is being held
renotely via the Mcrosoft Teans platform and a link to
partici pate has been provided to everyone that filed an
appearance or that requested to participate.

SoI'd like to start today, then, by
taki ng the appearances of the attorneys, starting with who
I s appearing for Consuners Energy today.

M5. U TVLUGI: | am Your Honor. Anne

U tvlugt appearing on behalf of Consunmers Energy. 1I'd
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also like to enter the appearance of Bret Totoraitis, Gary
Gensch, Spencer Sattler, and Evan Kei mach.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nmor ni ng.

And who is appearing today for the
Conmmi ssion Staff?

M5. STIRLING  Good norning, Your
Honor. Anna Stirling on behalf of the M chigan Public
Servi ce Comm ssion Staff. Also appearing in this case on
behal f of staff are Amt Singh, Alena dark, and M chael
Oris.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nor ni ng.

And who is appearing today for the
Attorney Ceneral ?

M5. G LL: Good norning, Your Honor.
Celeste GII on behalf of Attorney General Dana Nessel

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nor ni ng.

Who i s appearing today for the Retai
Energy Supply Associ ation?

M5. HESTON. Good norning, Your Honor.
Jenni fer Heston of the law firmof Fraser Trebil cock Davis
Dunl ap and Cavanagh, appearing on behalf of the Retai

Ener gy Supply Associ ati on.
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JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nor ni ng.

Al'l right. And who is appearing today
for the Mchigan Environmental Council?

MR. BZDOK: Good norning, Your Honor.
Chri stopher Bzdok on behal f of the M chigan Environnent al
Counci | .

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nor ni ng.

Next, who is appearing for the Gtizens
Uility Board?

MS. H LLYER  Good norning, Your Honor.
Holly Hillyer appearing on behalf of the Ctizens Uility
Board of M chi gan.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nor ni ng.

Who i s appearing today for the
Associ ation of Businesses Advocating Tariff Equity, also
known as ABATE?

MR. CAMPBELL: Good norning. Your
Honor. Steve Canpbell, Cark HIl, PLC, on behalf of the
Associ ati on of Businesses Advocating Tariff Equity.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nor ni ng.

Who i s appearing today on behal f of
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Energy M chi gan?

MR. LUNDGREN:. Good norning, Your
Honor. Tim Lundgren appearing on behal f of Energy
Mchigan. 1'd also like to enter appearances for Laura
Chapel l e and Justin Qons.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nor ni ng.

Al'l right. Wo is appearing today on
behal f of the group of energies that we commonly know as
The C ean Energy Organi zations?

MR, ABRAMS: Good norning, Your Honor.
Dani el Abrans appearing on behalf of The Ecol ogy Center,
the Environmental Law and Policy Center, the Union of
Concerned Scientists, and Vote Sol ar; collectively, the
Cl ean Energy Organi zati ons.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good
nor ni ng.

And who is appearing today on behal f of
t he Lansi ng Board of Water and Light?

MR. MOCDY: Good norning, Your Honor.
Nol an Moody on behal f of the Lansing Board of Water and
Light. 1'mal so appearing on behalf of Mchigan State
Uni versity.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you. And good

nmor ni ng.

OBrien & Bails Court Reporting and Video
(800) 878-8750 - M chigan Firm No. 8029




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

| believe that was everyone. |I|s there
any other attorney present that needs to place their
appearances on the record or any other party that needs to
pl ace their appearance on the record?

"' mnot seeing anyone, and | believe
that's correct, | believe |'ve got everyone.

So, all right, 1'd first like to
address the issue of notice in this case, sol'd like to
ask counsel for the utility to please explain whether the
Conpany was able to provide notice of this hearing in the
manner that was directed by the Conmm ssion.

M5. U TVLUGT: Yes, Your Honor.

Pursuant to the directive fromthe
Comm ssion's Executive Secretary, the Conpany caused to be
mailed a Notice of Hearing in this matter to each city,

i ncorporated village, township, and county within the
conmpany's gas service area, as well as to intervening
parties in Conm ssion Case No. U 21490.

In addition to that, the Notice of
Heari ng was published in newspapers of general circulation
in the Conpany's gas service territory.

These two actions were acconplished by
Decenber 30th, 2024, as directed by the Executive
Secretary, and the proofs have been upl oaded to the

Comm ssion's E-docket site.

OBrien & Bails Court Reporting and Video
(800) 878-8750 - M chigan Firm No. 8029




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you

And does Staff have any concerns or any
objections to the utility's provision of notice?

M5. STIRLING No, Your Honor.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Excellent.

Now t he Notice of Hearing did provide
directions for those who wish to intervene and becone a
party to this case, and | have received a Notice of
Intervention filed by Attorney CGeneral -- the Attorney
General Dana Nessel that details the statutory and conmon
| aw powers of the Attorney Ceneral to intervene in an
adm ni strative proceeding, and that intervention is
recogni zed.

| have al so received Petitions to
Intervene fromthe followi ng parties; the Retail Energy
Supply Associ ation, the M chigan Environnmental Council
Citizens Uility Board, the Association of Businesses
Advocating Tariff Equity, Energy M chigan, the group
conmonly known as The C ean Energy Organizations, the
Lansi ng Board of Water and Light, and Mchigan State
Uni versity.

Are there any objections to any of
these entities participating in this case as parties?

| am hearing none, and therefore, |I'm

going to grant all of the Petitions to Intervene, having
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reviewed them and found that they satisfied the | ega
requirenents for intervention

The Notice of Hearing al so provided
directions for those to wish to nake a statement w thout a
formal petition for |leave to intervene, notice, or rule,
or through a Team comment or a public comrent.

"Il just note for the record that any
person wi shing to participate without intervention can do
so by either mailing or e-mailing their coment to the
M chi gan Public Service Comn ssion and referencing this
case nunber. That's Case U 21806.

Now turning to the matter of setting a
schedule for this case, |I've asked the parties to
devel op -- confer and develop a sort of consensus
schedul e. That has been done off the record.

Ms. Stirling, if you could please read
t he schedul e that was proposed into the record.

M5. STIRLING Yes, Your Honor.

Staff and intervenor testinony would be
due April 23rd, 2025; rebuttal testinony on May 14th,

2025; Mdtions to Strike would be filed on May 16th, 2025;
responses to Motions to Strike would be due May 21st,
2025; cross-exam nation dates will be held on May 29th,
2025, to June 4th, 2025; initial briefs will be due June

25th, 2025; reply briefs wll be due July 11th, 2025; and
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a PFD target date will be August 14th, 2025.

Staff woul d al so propose an eight
busi ness day di scovery turnaround until the point of Staff
I ntervenor testinmony, and then a five business day
turnaround after that on a best efforts basis.

JUDGE VARCHETTI: Thank you,

Ms. Stirling.

Does any party have any objections to
the schedule that was just read into the record or any
corrections that mght need to be nade to it?

| am hearing no objections or
corrections, so I'mgoing to adopt that schedul e and issue
a correspondi ng scheduling menorandumthat | wll file
into the docket |ater.

All right. Now are there any other
matters that we have to take up today?

| am hearing none, so in that case,
that will conclude this prehearing.

I just want to | et everyone know that I
will be filing the scheduling nenorandum | ater today.
Because this is a rate case, it will have additiona
instructions governing the case, so | will ask you all to
read that and take a look at it.

O her than that, | have nothing else to

say about the case, and it appears that we have achi eved
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everything we needed to achieve today. So thank you,
everyone, and that concludes this prehearing, and we are
now of f the record.

(At 9:09 AM the prehearing was

adj ourned until cross-exam nation on May 29, 2025)
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           1                            STATE OF MICHIGAN



           2              BEFORE THE MICHIGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION



           3

              In the matter of the application

           4  of CONSUMERS ENERGY COMPANY for               Case No. U-21806

              authority to increase its rates

           5  for the distribution of natural               VOLUME I

              gas and for other relief.

           6  ______________________________________/



           7



           8                                PREHEARING



           9                           Proceedings held via Microsoft Teams in



          10       the above-entitled matter before James M. Varchetti,



          11       Administrative Law Judge with MOAHR, for the Michigan



          12       Public Service Commission, Lansing, Michigan, on Monday,
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           1                                     Monday, January 13, 2025



           2                                     9:00 AM Eastern



           3                       -  -  -



           4             (Hearing commenced pursuant to due notice)



           5                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Good morning,



           6       everyone.  We are now on the record in Case No. U-21806,



           7       which is captioned in the matter of the application of



           8       Consumers Energy Company for authority to increase its



           9       rates for the distribution of natural gas and for other



          10       relief.



          11                           My name is James Varchetti.  I am an



          12       administrative law judge with the Michigan Office of



          13       Administrative Hearings and Rules, and I have been



          14       assigned to be the hearing officer in this case.



          15                           Today is January 13th, 2025, and this



          16       is the date and the time scheduled for the prehearing



          17       conference in this case.  This hearing is being held



          18       remotely via the Microsoft Teams platform, and a link to



          19       participate has been provided to everyone that filed an



          20       appearance or that requested to participate.



          21                           So I'd like to start today, then, by



          22       taking the appearances of the attorneys, starting with who



          23       is appearing for Consumers Energy today.



          24                           MS. UITVLUGT:  I am, Your Honor.  Anne



          25       Uitvlugt appearing on behalf of Consumers Energy.  I'd
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           1       also like to enter the appearance of Bret Totoraitis, Gary



           2       Gensch, Spencer Sattler, and Evan Keimach.



           3                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



           4       morning.



           5                           And who is appearing today for the



           6       Commission Staff?



           7                           MS. STIRLING:  Good morning, Your



           8       Honor.  Anna Stirling on behalf of the Michigan Public



           9       Service Commission Staff.  Also appearing in this case on



          10       behalf of staff are Amit Singh, Alena Clark, and Michael



          11       Orris.



          12                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



          13       morning.



          14                           And who is appearing today for the



          15       Attorney General?



          16                           MS. GILL:  Good morning, Your Honor.



          17       Celeste Gill on behalf of Attorney General Dana Nessel.



          18                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



          19       morning.



          20                           Who is appearing today for the Retail



          21       Energy Supply Association?



          22                           MS. HESTON:  Good morning, Your Honor.



          23       Jennifer Heston of the law firm of Fraser Trebilcock Davis



          24       Dunlap and Cavanagh, appearing on behalf of the Retail



          25       Energy Supply Association.
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           1                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



           2       morning.



           3                           All right.  And who is appearing today



           4       for the Michigan Environmental Council?



           5                           MR. BZDOK:  Good morning, Your Honor.



           6       Christopher Bzdok on behalf of the Michigan Environmental



           7       Council.



           8                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



           9       morning.



          10                           Next, who is appearing for the Citizens



          11       Utility Board?



          12                           MS. HILLYER:  Good morning, Your Honor.



          13       Holly Hillyer appearing on behalf of the Citizens Utility



          14       Board of Michigan.



          15                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



          16       morning.



          17                           Who is appearing today for the



          18       Association of Businesses Advocating Tariff Equity, also



          19       known as ABATE?



          20                           MR. CAMPBELL:  Good morning.  Your



          21       Honor.  Steve Campbell, Clark Hill, PLC, on behalf of the



          22       Association of Businesses Advocating Tariff Equity.



          23                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



          24       morning.



          25                           Who is appearing today on behalf of
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           1       Energy Michigan?



           2                           MR. LUNDGREN:  Good morning, Your



           3       Honor.  Tim Lundgren appearing on behalf of Energy



           4       Michigan.  I'd also like to enter appearances for Laura



           5       Chapelle and Justin Ooms.



           6                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



           7       morning.



           8                           All right.  Who is appearing today on



           9       behalf of the group of energies that we commonly know as



          10       The Clean Energy Organizations?



          11                           MR. ABRAMS:  Good morning, Your Honor.



          12       Daniel Abrams appearing on behalf of The Ecology Center,



          13       the Environmental Law and Policy Center, the Union of



          14       Concerned Scientists, and Vote Solar; collectively, the



          15       Clean Energy Organizations.



          16                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



          17       morning.



          18                           And who is appearing today on behalf of



          19       the Lansing Board of Water and Light?



          20                           MR. MOODY:  Good morning, Your Honor.



          21       Nolan Moody on behalf of the Lansing Board of Water and



          22       Light.  I'm also appearing on behalf of Michigan State



          23       University.



          24                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.  And good



          25       morning.
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           1                           I believe that was everyone.  Is there



           2       any other attorney present that needs to place their



           3       appearances on the record or any other party that needs to



           4       place their appearance on the record?



           5                           I'm not seeing anyone, and I believe



           6       that's correct, I believe I've got everyone.



           7                           So, all right, I'd first like to



           8       address the issue of notice in this case, so I'd like to



           9       ask counsel for the utility to please explain whether the



          10       Company was able to provide notice of this hearing in the



          11       manner that was directed by the Commission.



          12                           MS. UITVLUGT:  Yes, Your Honor.



          13                           Pursuant to the directive from the



          14       Commission's Executive Secretary, the Company caused to be



          15       mailed a Notice of Hearing in this matter to each city,



          16       incorporated village, township, and county within the



          17       company's gas service area, as well as to intervening



          18       parties in Commission Case No. U-21490.



          19                           In addition to that, the Notice of



          20       Hearing was published in newspapers of general circulation



          21       in the Company's gas service territory.



          22                           These two actions were accomplished by



          23       December 30th, 2024, as directed by the Executive



          24       Secretary, and the proofs have been uploaded to the



          25       Commission's E-docket site.
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           1                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you.



           2                           And does Staff have any concerns or any



           3       objections to the utility's provision of notice?



           4                           MS. STIRLING:  No, Your Honor.



           5                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Excellent.



           6                           Now the Notice of Hearing did provide



           7       directions for those who wish to intervene and become a



           8       party to this case, and I have received a Notice of



           9       Intervention filed by Attorney General -- the Attorney



          10       General Dana Nessel that details the statutory and common



          11       law powers of the Attorney General to intervene in an



          12       administrative proceeding, and that intervention is



          13       recognized.



          14                           I have also received Petitions to



          15       Intervene from the following parties; the Retail Energy



          16       Supply Association, the Michigan Environmental Council,



          17       Citizens Utility Board, the Association of Businesses



          18       Advocating Tariff Equity, Energy Michigan, the group



          19       commonly known as The Clean Energy Organizations, the



          20       Lansing Board of Water and Light, and Michigan State



          21       University.



          22                           Are there any objections to any of



          23       these entities participating in this case as parties?



          24                           I am hearing none, and therefore, I'm



          25       going to grant all of the Petitions to Intervene, having
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           1       reviewed them and found that they satisfied the legal



           2       requirements for intervention.



           3                           The Notice of Hearing also provided



           4       directions for those to wish to make a statement without a



           5       formal petition for leave to intervene, notice, or rule,



           6       or through a Team comment or a public comment.



           7                           I'll just note for the record that any



           8       person wishing to participate without intervention can do



           9       so by either mailing or e-mailing their comment to the



          10       Michigan Public Service Commission and referencing this



          11       case number.  That's Case U-21806.



          12                           Now turning to the matter of setting a



          13       schedule for this case, I've asked the parties to



          14       develop -- confer and develop a sort of consensus



          15       schedule.  That has been done off the record.



          16                           Ms. Stirling, if you could please read



          17       the schedule that was proposed into the record.



          18                           MS. STIRLING:  Yes, Your Honor.



          19                           Staff and intervenor testimony would be



          20       due April 23rd, 2025; rebuttal testimony on May 14th,



          21       2025; Motions to Strike would be filed on May 16th, 2025;



          22       responses to Motions to Strike would be due May 21st,



          23       2025; cross-examination dates will be held on May 29th,



          24       2025, to June 4th, 2025; initial briefs will be due June



          25       25th, 2025; reply briefs will be due July 11th, 2025; and
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           1       a PFD target date will be August 14th, 2025.



           2                           Staff would also propose an eight



           3       business day discovery turnaround until the point of Staff



           4       intervenor testimony, and then a five business day



           5       turnaround after that on a best efforts basis.



           6                           JUDGE VARCHETTI:  Thank you,



           7       Ms. Stirling.



           8                           Does any party have any objections to



           9       the schedule that was just read into the record or any



          10       corrections that might need to be made to it?



          11                           I am hearing no objections or



          12       corrections, so I'm going to adopt that schedule and issue



          13       a corresponding scheduling memorandum that I will file



          14       into the docket later.



          15                           All right.  Now are there any other



          16       matters that we have to take up today?



          17                           I am hearing none, so in that case,



          18       that will conclude this prehearing.



          19                           I just want to let everyone know that I



          20       will be filing the scheduling memorandum later today.



          21       Because this is a rate case, it will have additional



          22       instructions governing the case, so I will ask you all to



          23       read that and take a look at it.



          24                           Other than that, I have nothing else to



          25       say about the case, and it appears that we have achieved
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           1       everything we needed to achieve today.  So thank you,



           2       everyone, and that concludes this prehearing, and we are



           3       now off the record.



           4                           (At 9:09 AM, the prehearing was



           5       adjourned until cross-examination on May 29, 2025)



           6                            - - -
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